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Millions of yen

(except per share amounts)

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

KAHEE For the year

56 L Net sales ¥ 142,156 ¥ 147,579 ¥ 151,205 ¥ 153,692 ¥ 158,992

(=g ZIEAS Operating income 10,715 13,194 12,909 6,932 9,050

A Ak Ordinary income 10,118 12,468 12,548 7,205 9,220

TR 2 Net income 2,979 6,451 6,959 3,238 4,395

ROE Return on equity 3.2% 6.6% 6.7% 2.9% 3.4%
1BkY4720 ¢ Per share data

L4 Il 2 Net income ¥ 1765 ¥ 3881 ¥ 4192 ¥ 19.31 ¥ 2275

Jic 24 46 Cash dividends 10.00 10.00 12.00 12.00 12.00
KAHEHER ¢ At year-end

AR Total assets ¥ 213,296 ¥ 224,956 ¥ 221,438 ¥ 232,486 ¥ 269,124

ME AR (JERL)  Net assets (Note) 94,039 101,801 107,212 112,800 143,439

7EFC 1 2003~2006 F E ik PEMERF S EELEIVELEATT,

Note: For the net assets amounts from 2003 to 2006, minority interests are excluded.
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Results of Operations
(1) Results of Operations
During fiscal 2006 that ended March 31, 2007, the
Japanese economy recovered steadily, supported by the
increase in capital investments and the improvement in
employment conditions thanks to the improvement of
corporate earnings. Under such economic conditions,
demand in the paper and pulp industry was strong and
shipments of products generally remained favorable.
On the other hand, however, costs of raw materials
and fossil fuels, such as crude oil and fuel chips continued
to surge, causing a considerable rise in production costs.
Under such circumstances, the Hokuetsu Paper Mills
Group strived to supply high-quality products and
services that met the needs of its customers. Also, to
cope with the sharp hikes in costs of raw materials and
fossil fuels, we requested price adjustments for the key
types of printing paper and paperboard and were
grateful to receive concurrence from our customers.
While the revamp at our Niigata Mill caused a decline
in production, we made group-wide efforts to expand
sales. Our efforts backed by the steady recovery in the
Japanese economy led us to post net sales of ¥158,992
million on a consolidated basis, up 3.4% year-on-year.
Furthermore, all departments advanced measures to
enhance production efficiency, promoted the effective
use of biomass energy and pursued energy-saving and
other cost reduction efforts as a result of which the
Company achieved an increase in operating income.
Consequently, the Group's consolidated results for
fiscal 2006 are as follows:
Net sales: ¥158,992 million, up 3.4% year-on-year
Operating income:
¥9,050 million, up 30.5% year-on-year
Ordinary income:
¥9,220 million, up 28.0% year-on-year
Net income:
¥4,395 million, up 35.7% year-on-year

Performance by business segment is as follows:
Pulp and Paper Manufacturing

[Printing paper]

Printing papers, including coated paper as the core
product, remained favorable as the Japanese economy
continued to indicate steady recovery. Especially for
coated paper, demand increased for application in
commercial printing materials, such as catalogs,
pamphlets, brochures, and free magazines, in line with

the expanded sales of digital home appliance products,
such as large-size liquid crystal and plasma TV.

[Paperboard]

As for paperboards, supported by reviving economic
conditions, the sales volume for white paperboards
increased by 2.1% from fiscal 2005. In reviewing the
results by business segment, while demand declined in
the publishing sector, demand remained strong in areas,
such as paper containers, foodstuffs, and commercial
printing. However, costs increased partly due to the
drastic rise in the price of used paper, a key raw material.

[Specialty paper and others]

- Specialty paper

In the category of filter, business was overall favorable,
supported by the steady demand for liquid crystal and
semiconductor products.

In the field of fancy paper, demand for “colored
paper” has continued to indicate a downward trend.
Instead, “white paper,” represented by high-grade
printing paper, has been in favorable demand.

In the category of industrial paper, the sandpaper
market centering in China has been expanding steadily.
We completed our facility enhancement efforts at the
end of the fiscal year under review and are ready to
better respond to the needs of our customers.

- Fibers and Pasco (fiberboard)

Sales of fibers declined from fiscal 2005 due to the lack
of core demand for application in dielectric materials.
Meanwhile, the sales volume for Pasco increased by
15.2% year-on-year, supported by the increase in orders
for non-inflammable boards and various environmentally-
friendly collection boxes.

- Casting paper

Sales of casting papers decreased from fiscal 2005,
impacted by the drop in orders for photo post cards for
new year greeting and other existing products.

As a result of all the factors above, results of
operations of the pulp and paper manufacturing
business are as follows:

Sales: ¥138,201 million, up 3.2% year-on-year
Operating income:
¥7,569 million, up 37.5% year-on-year

Paper Processing
In the paper processing business, Hokuetsu Package Co.,
Ltd. recognized growth in sales as a result of increased

Hokuetsu Paper Mills, Ltd.
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orders for trays used in convenience stores in the field of
paper container, as well as of drastically expanded orders
for environmentally-friendly delivery packs in the field of
environmental products. Meanwhile, operating income
declined due to factors in the field of liquid package
cartons, such as the price increase in imported carton base
sheets and the exchange loss from the weakened yen.

As a result of all of the abovementioned factors, the
results of the paper processing product manufacturing
operations are as follows:

Sales: ¥13,791 million, up 2.4% year-on-year
Operating income:
¥305 million, down 31.5% year-on-year

Other Businesses
[Wood Business]
The wood business pursued by Hokuetsu Forest Co., Ltd.
posted a decrease in sales due to the considerable
impact from the decline in consigned work and the drop
in sales of broadleaf tree materials. However, the
business recognized an increase in operating income as a
result of strong demand for fuel chips and others.

As a result of all the abovementioned factors,
performance in the wood business is as follows:
Sales: ¥591 million, down 7.8% year-on-year
Operating income:

¥68 million, up 187.0% year-on-year

[Transportation and Warehousing Businesses]

In transportation and warehousing businesses, both sales
and operating income increased as a result of the higher
transportation volume handled outside of the Group by
Hokuetsu Logistics Co., Ltd.

As a result of all the abovementioned factors, the
performance of the transportation and warehousing
businesses is as follows:

Sales: ¥1,540 million, up 15.6% year-on-year
Operating income:
¥219 million, up 33.4% year-on-year

[Construction, Machinery Production, Sales and
Maintenance]
In the construction, machinery production, sales and
maintenance of machinery businesses, both sales and
operating income increased, since orders received by
Hokuetsu Engineering Co., Ltd. from outside the Group
increased.

As a result of all the abovementioned factors, the

performance of the construction, manufacturing, and sales
and maintenance of machinery businesses is as follows:
Sales: ¥2,943 million, up 28.9% year-on-year
Operating income:

¥440 million, up 137.1% year-on-year

As a result, the performance of other businesses is as
follows:
Sales: ¥7,000 million, up 11.7% year-on-year
Operating income:

¥932 million, up 98.9% year-on-year

Please note that the monetary amounts mentioned
above do not include consumption tax, etc.

(2) Cash Flows
Consolidated cash and cash equivalents came to ¥10,135
million, up ¥2,816 million or 38.5% year-on-year.

(Cash Flows from Operating Activities)

Net cash provided by operating activities totaled
¥14,907 million on a consolidated basis, down ¥1,159
million year-on-year. This was as a result of the decrease
of ¥3,097 million in the depreciation and amortization
from fiscal 2005 to ¥10,566 million while the income
taxes paid indicated year-on-year decreases of ¥1,427
million to ¥1,480 million.

(Cash Flows from Investing Activities)

Net cash used in investing activities amounted to
¥43,780 million on a consolidated basis as expenses rose
¥27,949 million from fiscal 2005. This was as a
consequence of the year-on-year increase of ¥25,040
million in the payment for purchases of property, plant
and equipment, including the installation of a biomass
power generator facility at the Kanto Mill and the
construction of new facilities related with the
papermaking machine No. 9 at the Niigata Mill, to a
total of ¥41,865 million.

(Cash Flows from Financing Activities)

Net cash provided by financing activities increased
¥32,297 million on a consolidated basis from fiscal
2005, resulting in a net cash position of ¥31,689 million.
This was primarily attributable to the proceeds worth
¥30,350 million from the issuance of shares for capital
increase through third-party allotment against Mitsubishi
Corporation.

Hokuetsu Paper Mills, Ltd.

25



N "i:ﬁ -_Hzij‘ 73 S AR R a4t
;@.nn H M !E!R 20074 R 20063831 HH7E

k! TR IV () i TR (L)
gE@EK 2007 2006 2007 ﬁ{%&v’ﬁﬁﬁd)ﬁﬂ 2007 2006 2007
P RE - bk =Eree
Blawa (i 3) ¥ 10,274 ¥ 7422 $ 87,001 S B (TERC6 ) OY7) ¥ 23225 ¥ 26,112 $ 196,672
7t b A — AR PR R RIS A (TERL6 )L OY7) 15,351 7,272 129,994
—foe FAkHE 39,194 36,657 331,899 1A #s:
LR - ot M OV B A AR e 15,677 14,729 132,755 — A 19,405 19,568 164,324
Zoil 941 501 7,969 Fhi A - Sk OB T A s 2,140 2,150 18,122
it IR (87) (96) (737) Z oAt 4,444 2,518 37,632
HEN R o (TR 5) 11,965 11,222 101,321 RINEABLSE (3L 10) 2,675 897 22,652
MRIEBLA i (JERL 10) 1,807 1,401 15,302 R 5,470 5,083 46,321
B 4L B Y2 i 1,456 1,720 12,330 Z D 1,163 1,715 9,848
VBN E AR 81,227 73,556 687,840 B A GR 73,873 65,315 625,565
FIRE €& (TR 6) i A
T % O Il AR 12,314 10,990 104,276 S A8 (TEEC6 ) OY7) 38,715 40,266 327,843
Wy B O S 52,505 50,067 444,619 MR 4 B (FERE10) 4,084 5,371 34,584
B e OF T B 2% LA 281,887 269,414 2,387,052 BS54 4 (3L 16) 7,583 7,098 64,214
HEFA M) & 27,030 8,960 228,893 Be R 451 24 4 127 793 1,076
373,736 339,431 3,164,840 BT Y 4 263 — 2,227
TRAT A 0 R T4 (225,965) (220,693) (1,913,498) Zof 1,040 213 8,807
H AR 147,771 118,738 1,251,342
s aeHs (R 8)
Pl WO Z DB E M RE (TERL9)
P A MRS R 4) 29,566 29,575 250,368 MEBA
Fh LS T Ak B OB AR B B B I OVREHE 55 3,468 3,270 29,367 BA L
B3 1S o R 385 453 3,260 EMER R
YN 2,283 2,489 19,333 20074E 500,000,000k
MERL 4% (TRL 10) 1,321 1,216 11,186 20064F  260,000,0008%
Z oA 3,480 3,663 29,470 BT
85 4 (377) (474) (3,192) 20074F  214,052,054%%
Bl B O OME PEAR 40,126 40,192 339,792 20064E  164,052,054%k 42,021 26,821 355,839
¥ 269,124 ¥ 232,486 $ 2,278,974 EARR A4 40,244 25,094 340,791
HBET 3R NS SR BREOER A BREE TS5, Haafls & S >2:417 SO
H kX (1,025) (871) (8,680)
WFEBEAREGT 135,704 103,461 1,149,157

AT - 5 A

Z OABAT Al FE S F AT 25 40 4 7,014 9,339 59,395
RRIE A~ VR 29 — 246
AV - SRS AR 7,043 9,339 59,641
DRI 5 692 630 5,860
B EATT 143,439 113,430 1,214,658

¥ 269,124 ¥ 232,486 $ 2,278,974

26 Hokuetsu Paper Mills, Ltd. Hokuetsu Paper Mills, Ltd. 27



TR

Elg%23 iv 7 w-tad
20074 . 2006 F K% U'2005F3A31H%HoTHRT L1 F/H

Mk Eryyya.-70—3EE

e B =4t

20074 . 2006 F & U'2005F3A31H%H - THR T L1 A

vk FRIV GERD
2007 2006 2005 2007
e b (RS 11 0°17) ¥ 158,992 ¥ 153,692 ¥ 151,205 $ 1,346,363
5e U (7352 11) 127,771 125,112 116,729 1,081,980
5¢_ERFIE 31,221 28,580 34,476 264,383
W T B OF e AR (R 12) 22,171 21,648 21,567 187,747
BRI 9,050 6,932 12,909 76,636
Z OO (BH)
ORI R OVE 24 4 370 343 313 3,133
XHFIE, (730) (684) (942) (6,182)
R LS O Ik 121 105 73 1,025
BB AT SRS HI A% 303 — — 2,566
e B A ML SEAT (15) (22) - (127)
BEAR 2 LR AR 45 (82) — — (694)
i 5 2 7 B HI4R (1,173) (444) (536) (9,933)
] Al B 4 A 2,879 — — 24,380
i1 5 B B A HR (2,834) — — (23,999)
RIS (L 13) = (344) — —
BRESRF 5T | 24 S A Hi (263) — — (2,227)
SRBRAS AT 23 BT oM 2 s 8 st (85) - (154) (720)
SEEIRR = — (657) —
BB AR IS (624) — — (5,284)
Z ol Gt ge) 383 532 504 3,243
(1,750) (514) (1,399) (14,819)
B4 S ST 1 TR 2% 7,300 6,418 11,510 61,817
PABE AR RBL R O HH R JERE 10) ©
AR BE Sy 3,182 1,496 4,676 26,945
M HE B4R (349) 1,645 (238) (2,955)
2,833 3,141 4,438 23,990
AFORR 3RS IR AT Y IR A2 4,467 3,277 7,072 37,827
DR FE R 72 39 113 610
AR ¥ 4395 ¥ 3238 ¥ 6959 $ 37,217
&} KRV (R
2007 2006 2005 2007
IREY 720 1% (i 2) ¢
IR 72 ) BIURA 2k ¥ 22.75 ¥ 19.31 ¥ 41.92 $ 0.19
TEAERR SR B A 1R Y 72 0 S ITRERI % — - - -
1RR4 720 Bl Y4 12.00 12.00 12.00 0.10

T2 ERUMBRERDERLERER TH,

28 Hokuetsu Paper Mills, Ltd.

EWilE! Tk Fv (ERLD
2007 2006 2005 2007

LD F vy TO—!
00 40 5 T R i 24 SN i ¥ 7,300 ¥ 6,418 ¥ 11,510 $ 61,817
WA (50 2 10,566 13,663 12,950 89,474
[ %i:EisEN = 344 - -
I 7 ¥ BRI 1,229 507 536 10,407
¥ 8 T A 2,834 - - 23,999
[ Al B A O A (2,879) - - (24,380)
IR OVRE Y 4 (370) (343) (313) (3,133)
KHFE 730 684 942 6,182
52 P ASEHE > (B ) A% (3,541) (807) (987) (29,986)
W2 2 > (B4 A (742) (1,089) (1,350) (6,283)
HAATE O GRA) % 801 65 1,474 6,783
BB 24 &R A #i 485 138 521 4,107
e BRI 57 45 124 430 (A 8 46 (167) 73 390
BRI T | 4 & o R G 4 263 — — 2,227
Z O i) (7) (107) 354 (59)
/NGE 16,715 19,306 25,710 141,545
L OV 24 4 0> 52 U 392 363 333 3,319
INSKOBEIN ] (720) (696) (1,010) (6,097)
YN EADEE IR ] (1,480) (2,907) (5,913) (12,533)
EHGE DDAz F vy v a - 7a— (FAH) 14,907 16,066 19,120 126,234

BB EDF vy -7u—!
SO WAL ST H (74) (35) (30) (627)
EWHE DRI BIA 37 54 46 313
AAMRESR J OB B A AMREZR QWA L5 (4,152) (512) (391) (35,159)
A Al FE SR Fe OB A SR D 5 HINC KB IUA 481 538 388 4,073
BB AHMF S ORI BIUA = 1,000 - —
U R e I S W AN S - (73) — -
H N & DA X5 3 (41,865) (16,825) (10,174) (354,518)
HINE & B E DI EBILA 27 204 85 229
] B A 1 4 D 5% AZ X BILA 2,152 - - 18,223
Z O Gili4R) (386) (182) (424) (3,268)
BB L F vy v - 7o— (i) (43,780) (15,831) (10,500) (370,734)

MBI LD F e Ta—!
S A BTE MBI GRRA) % (2,887) 4,852 78 (24,447)
FEIEA S X BILA 13,800 300 400 116,860
B A & 0B & 53 M (7,272) (2,948) (9,215) (61,580)
FRRFATICEBILA 30,350 — - 257,007
MR AR WAL D AT IC L BILA = — 10,000 —
SR AR AL DO RIS X B S = — (10,000) —
OB E N | (2,254) (2,125) (1,803) (19,087)
HOHKXOMIFIC X2 Z H (42) (680) (20) (356)
Z DAl Gl 4) (6) (7) 32 (51)
MEBIEB DSBS LR) Fryyva - 7u— G 31,689 (608) (10,528) 268,346
B4 T O BLA T S50 AR B A 24 0 52 2 0
B4 R OB TS o8 (84 % 2,816 (321) (1,906) 23,846
e RO BET S o W a5k 7,319 7,640 9,546 61,978
Bl B O BLE TR S o AR = (5L 3) ¥ 10,135 ¥ 7,319 ¥ 7,640 $ 85,824

HFEY BRI NS EREMBEROERLERERTHS,

Hokuetsu Paper Mills, Ltd.



MRS PR B A F R B RN

20074 . 2006 F K U'2005F3A31H% 6> THRT L1FRE

i
PR tk AR RliHA CREEN mevkas  CORAMIRE e v it M DS s At
20044E3H31H 164,052,054 ¥ 26,821 ¥ 25,094 ¥ 46,342 ¥ (199) ¥ 98,058 ¥ 3,743 Y — ¥ 3,743 ¥ 628 ¥ 102,429
L A 3 - - — 6,959 - 6,959 - - — — 6,959
AKX D TR (A - — - — 12 12 — — — — 12
Fie Y 4 (124729 11.00H) - - - (1,804) - (1,804) — — — - (1,804)
HUH e 2 G- - - - (96) - (96) - - - - (96)
H ML 53 7440 - - - (1) - (1 - - - - )
MeF B AR DI O THO M 25148 B b O 28 Bh A (R4 - - - - - — 341 — 341 101 442
20054E3H31H 164,052,054 26,821 25,094 51,400 (187) 103,128 4,084 - 4,084 729 107,941
W IRA 4 - - — 3,238 - 3,238 — — — - 3,238
AR OBEA (FiH) - — - - (684) (684) - - — — (684)
i 2% 4 (14 729 13.0011) - - - (2,125) - (2,125) - - - — (2,125)
I - - - - (96) — (96) — - - - (96)
BB AR DA O BH O MRS S FHE B o 2 B A1 (RiAH) — — - - — - 5,255 — 5,255 (99) 5,156
20064E3H31H 164,052,054 26,821 25,094 52,417 (871) 103,461 9,339 — 9,339 630 113,430
24 A 2 - - — 4,395 - 4,395 - - — — 4,395
Pk OFAT 50,000,000 15,200 15,150 - — 30,350 - - — — 30,350
AR OMEA Gl — - - - (154) (154) - — — — (154)
B Y 4 (1FR24 729 12.00H) - — — (2,254) - (2,254) - - — — (2,254)
TP E G- - - - (94) - (94) - - - - (94)
MR E AR DS O THD M 2 EHE B b o £ B (i) - - - - - - (2,325) 29 (2,296) 62 (2,234)
20074E3H31H 214,052,054 ¥ 42,021 ¥ 40,244 ¥ 54,464 ¥ (1,025) ¥ 135,704 ¥ 7,014 ¥ 29 ¥ 7,043 ¥ 692 ¥ 143,439
TRFL (R
R #AG AH R RisHA S VSN pevkai  CQORAIER e v i DU s At
20064E3H31H 164,052,054 $ 227,124 $ 212,499 $ 443,873 $ (7,376) $ 876,120 $ 79,083 $ — $ 79,083 $533 $§ 960,538
24 A 2 - - — 37,217 - 37,217 - - — — 37,217
FkOFAT 50,000,000 128,715 128,292 - — 257,007 - - - - 257,007
HEX oA Gitigi) - — — - (1,304) (1,304) — — — — (1,304)
Pl Y 4 (1B 4 720 0.10K Fv) - - — (19,087) - (19,087) - - — — (19,087)
T 1% G- - - - (796) - (796) - - - - (796)
MeF B AR LI O T HO MG 25148 B b O 28 Bh AR (R4 - — - - — - (19,688) 246 (19,442) 525 (18,917)
20074E3H31H 214,052,054 $ 355,839 $ 340,791 $ 461,207 $ (8,680) $ 1,149,157 $ 59,395 $ 246 $ 59,641 $ 5860 $ 1,214,658

IBET 2 FRIRCNSERUMBRAROERLBRER TH 5,

Hokuetsu Paper Mills, Ltd.

Hokuetsu Paper Mills, Ltd. 31



32

;";i. ;'f‘l:!l: % % g% ﬁ 0) ‘ZE‘E ;::E ISR S AL

RS 1 ERMBERORT

HiI 8 O MG W B st 2R SRR [ B OF € D BB B
eV HAZBOW T —RICAIER B ERBOLN 72 &R IEH#
(BLFL “HAOKAEHEHE) ISR LRI DS ER S h
TVEY, BB HADREHEEIIKFHLEL L ORI L
T WO DR THERBM B R L R o T0E T,

I8 Ok W B it 13 HADLFHER I LS TIER S,
RAEFREL [ O BEEEIC XD M B A O ks s R R s h 7z
AL Bt R R 2, BIRL7200 T3 (—#oB MY it ik
L20064F B UN20054F O WAL MR ¥ BA S L BEH R HEOMERE
BATOUET ) HAGTEOMR M B R ISR BSNT0L—i
DHE R NERDI L WIE R ZR OB LY RALET
VDO, FiEOMERE BB HRICITRLEBSNhTOEEA,

ST W B R T BIZH 720 HAR M 25K E v
ANDZEHIZ, 20074E3H3THIZ BT % 5 K E B v~ 5
L—F, ¥11809. $1.00Z HWTiTbhTwEd, KEFV
DFTRE . WL OFEF VTR Y e SCHRE Y B st 2 2 X0 L
LTHHI DI A% K 572dDTH Y HA D Fmsfii 4
AEIE LEERHL — P CRE N VISR TE LI L2 R LA
bOTREHVEEA

R 2 ERMBRREBDI=HDEERELD
BEELSiHAH

(a) EIEDOEE

AW B AL, AR AE (BUF, “ 44k RO
EEL T4 (LU, “ Ut —7") oW Btz Skt L.
P MRS S L O HLG | MRS S A L 0 J91 A B
B B REBAE 2 R L TER LT E S

BHEBARDWEZ DI 5T, LRSI B VT, IS
LR 5 Tt B e RO (D Bk 580 % &)
ZNEZR A AN KM L . 08 e AR S R AR X 2 A
OB B it T FIREN TSt WL D
DNARTADDONALLUTHER THEHEANLTVET,
72720 BHSHEPMED LT, BEROHREL TR
LTwEd,

F/o. EERIIES T A RO B A oW T4k

Hokuetsu Paper Mills, Ltd.

Z#EALTVET,
MR AL O EE N AR BUT 0l ) T

s

2007 2006 2005
LA Ttk 10 10 1
T3 1530 A 3 254 7 6 6

20074E3H12HIC M4t B 234k & UTR L SN 7= (BR) Bk
V=== LT, 20074E3H31HZ D > TH T L7z x5t
EEPSFFEEZEALTVET,

20054E3H31HZ D 5T T LA RAHEE TS &4
Tholz B TAMEZE () X, 200643 H31HZ D >TR T
L7255 HE IS BUW TR O FE RN X0 A DRI A5 B
TVET,

JLBAGE (BR) 1d 20044E4 I BWCTH ZzIcik v &7z
72, 200543 H31HZ D > THE T L7 X AHAEEE A 5 MG W B
HRICEThTVET,

PR A L2 8 1C L0 Btk & 22 5 72 (BR)
A%y 7 HAPIIH LT, 20054E3H31HZ S5 TR T L7
KRAHEEI S EEEN LTV E T,

(b) EEFvya-70—-5HE

R F vy Y- 7u—FHREEICBT LIS RO BLEH S
Wi, Foolle, BT XU B2 S R OVE 5 1T 4
WEETHY. Do, MEDOEEOWTHEDRYZZ U Ab
T WA HA S35 HEAPIC R W B o 5k 3 2
PHRVET,

(c) HEEEDEFMANDIRE
S G ERATHEATE (SR HL — P TIREEL L 51282
R, AL L TR ELTuE T,

(d) HIEEES0)FFAlELSE

[ T AR B 2t R 1T 28, T RTO&HE
X2 DEEOHEH BV TEA MR ORAHM Z G L.
FAMRESZ K OMEFNCX 5 L U EA . (a) BEfili o
ZEENCIOFIRE 2L AN LTHRA A A MRES (LU T,
“SEEHWAMEEE) 0)WMETHRATHHNOAER (BT,
WA HM ORISR (o) Fathpka - B kAR
BN (d) Litowg b & T wAliGESR (DL, “Zo
A FESR") o 72720 20074F, 20064F ) UN20054E3 H31H
ZHoTHRTLAEARMEEICBWTIE, Lid(a) LT (b) D
AliFESRZRAELTOERA,

F ML F- bR B OV 45 9 ) B A kg, B
B PX S S L0 AT REICE ELTwE g,

Z OMAMFESR O WAl 232 LK T L7 B A1, M4
A FIE SR X R C AR RIS ET RS A, IRpfi & il &
AT Z OB OBILEL TSN T T, MOV IE
FEHEUMG 25 MINARE L WA $h 2 S8 2 R L - &#(T
B IR ECEE EL T3, R B 4t % B,
R D72 R D FE R A A LA LB 512, Mk
MRS FEZRMA T THA SN, 28R HELLT
AT, SHOLASAICIE., Wl & 2R M AR o
MRS 20 E 5

Z DOABA M RESR O 5 B WA HA» © 14 DL i 1] 331 3
T5HO1E, WEIE EDOTFIZE D Z NS DA O A liGESR 1E
KEZOMDOEEIIEDTVET,

Z OAbAT A RIE R 131K H o Rl T AR 0 RIS EF L,
WP & B 5T & D 2= BN BER) R & PERR L 728210 FLE R
DB [FHM - WHAEFF ] OWRBIHE L TR Sh T
F 5. T OMAMRES O FEHIH L IR BY I FAT 12 XY
HELTVET,

(e) HEEILE

BEEIN 4L FEHEOBRBEINICEZIERIHA 5720,
FRARARIZIDMAZDIIH T A DREHEOWTRIBIIC
WL A ZZE L CEFELTVwE T,

(f) HHENERPE D FFlE2E
GNP XU A CRE L LT o B EARL

I (B LT EEUTHIR S X B il B 2, A48
i EELTRALHEIC LB EMS: 2 R LT0E . L.
AHE B OB 5E FIAS Bl B2 L2 B LU A B0 3202 & 2 DA 92 % $R
LTwEd,

(g) BETEEEDFEELERVRMEEISE

AR P I HUR A TR ELCwE . b, EE
B & D Z AFIZDOWTIE, B3 2 & OB A5
BB LCVE S,

Wtk DYy BEAREEE 3P OS2 19984F4 H 1 H LA R L 72
MRS T 24 O Y O WA 2 3 AL TH Y I
BB ABE DR AERIC I ->TwE T, Ridbsto
A B L B ABLEIC IO S AR B X0 i1
THEALTOE T, BREIE PE OB S B OV WA 5 H 2 5
BUIA T 2 E P O FHIRE D S BRd . BRI (XA
S LoMBEAE L TR L THhET,

20074E3H31HZ TR T L7 KEHEEIZB VT, Ytto
Pl T3 70V 7 B3 B A e ONHOD) 38 B R i (T 3 fi & b
(I SRR R IR BT BAREE I O T H e LA S S
FNTOET ), R R T35 0 MHE A B 20 % Bit RS 1
Z DA D T OREWEETE O WA % BRI
BECERLTYE S, COLHEIE. #HTRICEY
AN (2D % Y9 5 WIS 45 L« 88D 72 B TGS O It %
X 2720247 572D THVE T,

COETIIY, WAl EI 132,806 71 5 11 (23,762 F-KFv)
WAL B ERGE S OB 55 B Y IR AR 2 h 2 h
27136 15 1 (22974 F KR FV) B2, 7156 J5 1 (22,991 F-K
V) BIML TS

WEAF DR BAAT IS 723 i B OV A7 2% S LS8
KL EMEEARKLHELTOE T, M. BREE KO
DR BUR G R ERICBR LTV,

Hokuetsu Paper Mills, Ltd.

33



(h) BIEEEDRIE

WEE IV —F 1, 20064E3H31HZ TR T L2 &EHE
JBE 70 [ 2 1 E D RN AR B xR e ([ 2 2 0 0 9 ARLC
BR2EFEEDOFRECHTLIEAE | (XX HFES
20024E8 HOH) ) Ko O 22 % PE D IARNAR D &R HEHE o 5 ]
st (I EATHEERES  20034E10H31H A&
HEE RS 6 ) 2 A LTS,

CTHIZED, 200643 H31HE S > TR T Lz REHEED
B S5 TR AT S IIRIFI2E 23344 1 T IR LT 0E T, 23,
IRAETRC RIS DWW T, SIE F Mk B v 2N
HOE MK EHEOSH O EHETERL TV T,

(i) ZPA4F 2R )=R

V=2 O A IS EICBIZT 5L ROON5H0
PIMDT7AF VA - )= ARV —=T4 27 - J—=REF L
FHES TR LTVE T,

(j) BREEREHIEINS

WAV —FIEFE H 0B 2CL 2R OB 4
il % BT T A G AKHEE, Bkt B ST DD E K % E &
LT, 183 B BRI IR — IRp 4 L ONB IR AR 62 R LT
WEF, GBI REEIIAE N TS TTRY . BERAE SIS
PUHAE AR A RVAE 12D E 5%

JRTRAG AHE B 2 B BRAR A BN — E OACE 2 L7248
SRIGFHLCE SV THEShTWET,

P2 B O BRI 2 B 7200 Utk 20 —F I3
FHBUEIZ BT 2 BIBAG A B8 ) OVE G o 0 WA BT I
DEBBAEHTINEZE ELTVET,

BORGEHE Lo, @ BB X AR A, 3R
D IFRAFE B R BA D — 2 DAEEL (104E) 12 20 B
WP TV 9, MR B BRI AR ISR LA LT
¥ 328

Wtk —71Z 20064E3H31HZ D > TR T L7 REHERE
MO TR AR D S RTHEHE O —FB8UE | (3% Tk
3% 20054:3)16H) L O TR 124 2 XFTHEHE |0
—IBEOE B %8 H Fa 81 ] (e at IR sl R Fa 81 87 5
20054E3H16H) Z @ H LCWwE T, COEHICLZHEND
IR TT,

34 Hokuetsu Paper Mills, Ltd.

(k) HRERESE514%

Wk SR XA IR 1% B OB A% 0 BRI 2T\
BT S BLE 2 B T, BRI o0 SRR AEEAERL
B OB T RANORREFEL FLZOMOENZ R
LT IG5 B OFBi A5 0 B IR L2 B REE 7 & %SGR LT
T PO B OV B AR R 07 12972 KA L EE LT
13, ARHME BRI M OB A A B AR L7 & A
L7255 (S B L 7 B RNl 2 R - AL DBl T
AP L7281 D100% % B¢ B D7 &9 [ 4 &L LT 4 T T
WY

WAL, DGRBS BT, 13 HBIRE 7 & E o BE 1k
Z Pk 20064£6 H28HD ERpk EARR R ITB VT, &
GG T TR P I3 2B Bt 57 2 SR AR IR SR
THILERBYL7-Z I, RSB
ST EBTISE M (6,038 TR MV) 2 EERED[ 2 D
o | ~RE R TOE S

() RIRXIRE L=

[ARVIEAL Y 7= =)VBEGEY) O 1L 2 12 B3 2 R
HIE LS X 5 PCBBEEM OALBL S N IZHi 2 % 728D, JLBL
M ZErELTuE g,

(m) HARARRULRRTR
PRS2 B O AT B JE IR IS — RSB L
ISAEEE

(n) FINF1TBEIENY V&R

Ay YVHITHH SN TO R0 UHND 73747 % Wil
TRME L Rl 02 B) 2 HAEE L TRBRLTVWE T,

FUNTFATHRANyVELTHEH SN~y V%
72T EICIE. Ny VR RITR LRV SN AETO
WIHL, VN T4 7T ORI OZE B 55 L U 5 iz 0 ik %
MERTWET,

T2, ERATY T Ay TVELTHH SN, —~ DAY
BRI HAIE. ATy TR ROE ETIARIRD
FIFIZERRATy 7D T2 0] 7O Z M 721X
BWHELTVES,

(o) IEABHE

WAL 7V —FIIBB EE HI E B REHHI O WA 5
e FBEE - B D — I FUIBIARZ RRLT0Edo A
BLAF OFUL, MRS AR AT B OBL G R i 24 WA A%
ZHBECLTHE SN I, FRMN D RA TN — K5
WX LT, B - AT 70— F I K BIE B - F4E
TS R (O SR

(p) 18H&7=V) 155

TBR Y 720 0 Y 150 F1) 2 13 AT B R X o J P2 B2 ik
DOTEHEEINTVE T, 20074F. 20064F 5 V20054128175
AT HEHRR oM P EIgEIE, £ FN193,156,338%%.
162,852,894k, 163,631,886/ TdH D % 3 HTEMKRNIIAAAE
LZa\ 728, ARG AL TR 720 S IR AI 2R 0 Rl il 2
LTwE®A,

IFRG 72D BE M 4xid, A FERIIIEDEFRINTEY,
B IR IR SN RFHEEICR S SN &%
TATVET,

(a) BEMNBROHBEEDBORTICHTISHEES

WAV =713, 20074E3H31IHZ B TR T LA REHERE
25 [ B OME E DT DFIRITB T % KAk
(RFEARFHHEERHES  20054E12H9H  EAFHEHEES
5) RO B E OFE B OO TR T 5 x5k
SoRMIES (RERFHEERH S 2005E12H9H 3%
KPR RS E8S) (BL T, ML T “Fraihikie”) %
BEHLTVWES,

PER OB I, [ | [T ROT OBk E R
W [EAR | DSBRENTOELLA, HAiHEEDT
T BRI [ F | RO St ] SN [HFEERE ] o
X G ORI TVRET,

PRI, BERY AR BT O FE [ CUIAED JI2E0 T
FIRLTCOELZ [HIEAy VI CUIHRE~Y Y FIZR) 113,
PO T CIIBIRD R 1% O S8R [5HI - 55 24 4
& |OWNRFHELTFIRLTOWET, 72, 26k, [ E k]
EEAR|DOIICFERLTOEL2[ D Bbk L+ 113, Hir &6t
HHED T TIX[HE | OWRFHHELTERLTWETS,

200643 H31HBUAEIZ B 2 A BT IR &K1, 20074E 0

HER RN REDOITRICEH TS5 IITFR LT
9, SHUTLB20074E S U20064E D AE A T EIC S 2
LRBIIBHVERAL B, 20074E3H3IHIAEIC B DHE KD
[EAR | OAFHIH Y 55 4813142,718 5 17 M (1,208,553 T
KEWV)TY,

(r) BEEXSEHHESICEATISHEES

Wtk N —71%. 200743 H31HAE DT T Lz XEMHEE
ORREBEARSEB B35 K516 | (&G
HHERH S 20054E12H27H  ERFIEHESE6S) LOTH
FEARGLEHE T ICH TR 0M RS (%A
FIEMER S 20054E12H27H A EAEHIEHEE I 1581
$9%5) (DT BRBL T HAat ) 2@ LTuE T,

CHICXBE, 20074E3 H31HZ S TR T 32 KalHERE
MO R EBARGEBFHRHE LR T5IL2RKDLNTH
F9, POk, AR ERGEH R HE IHAROSEHEED T T
BB ASRDLNTOERATLZAS RS BB R EHEDT
FLIRLTHBNE L7z YAFHEEIZBWT, 200645 [ U°20054:
O HAEREFRFHRE NSRRI TR E ARG L B R
P AR O R LTV,

(s) RRDHEE

B EHEBE DL O S, W B it R O BAAS, BREFHEED
HAREM B A KOFITRITHEHTLIFR LB I TwD
bOVBBHNET,

F72, T2 () K O2 () ICRE i@ Y . 200643 31 HBAE
2BV B3 e IR 2%, 20074E MRS B I KD FoR
CABTHINFR BB ZTOET, F4, 1BRAEMIC
PR LT 7220064 2 UN20054F 0 [ 8L R 3 #5518 12
RACTTHREBARSEBEHEE | 2 BRI &K
LTwEd,

RS OMBHI DRI L2 RS T3 MR A S
fif & 8% RIZTHOTEDHVERA

Hokuetsu Paper Mills, Ltd.

35



36

XiE 3S-RERUVAFFY

20074F S UF20064FE3 H3THBUE I 1T 2 A5 B 0 ik
BERHTHZ “BEHE Ll Fyyda - 7u—3itHE L
O “BlERK OBENED I T 0@ —HLE T,

HHH TRRL

2007 2006 2007
WS ¥ 10,274 ¥ 7,422 $ 87,001
I3 Ao e W e (139) (103) (1,177)
HL& R O BLE N S5 ¥ 10,135 ¥ 7,319 $ 85,824

i¥5C 4— AL

20074 L UF20064E3 H3THBUAE D, W filli D 3 2 A1 fill GEZR 12
B9 2 HURHEUl A A IR IS, DUF Om@) T
T DhHHEES :

i
2007
W g PRI e
X
JAS AT BT 1A
(REAM AT AE) SR 5Ll 2
BZHDOD ¥ 9,640 ¥ 21,238 ¥ 11,598
JAE AR I T A
(REAM AT AR A3 5L il 2
BZHRVLO 1,518 1,409 (109)
¥ 11,158 ¥ 22,647 ¥ 11,489
i
2006
o g EREHOIGER e
X
RS R BT 1A
(REAM SEAMZE) SIS 5Ll 2
MZ5H0 ¥ 9,924 ¥ 25,119 ¥ 15,195
JAE AR IR 25T |
(REAMT SEAM AR A3 5L il 2
BREVHOD 22 21 (1)
¥ 9946 ¥ 25,140 ¥ 15,194
FRFV
2007
o g EMEAOARE e
X
RS R BT 1
(REAM PR AE) ASHUS 5Ll 2
BZAHHD $ 81,633 $ 179,846 $ 98,213
JAE AR IR 25T A
(REAM SEAM AR SIS 5L il 2
BRZHRVLO 12,854 11,931 (923)

$ 94,487 $ 191,777 $ 97,290

Hokuetsu Paper Mills, Ltd.

20074F & U°20064E3 H31HIRAE D WAl D 22 WA A FIESR D
P2 B OIS A R IR LI DL T o D T3

FDftHHEES :

HI7H TkrEv
W 2007 2006 2007
I LRk ¥ 6,919 ¥ 4,435 $ 58,591

20074E3H31HZ D ST T L2 ARHERIZREA L7122 D
H i FESR D FE EVAIZA81 F T3 H (4,073 F K FV) T, eHItE D
At 3036 15 M (2566 T K FV) TL7z, 200643 H31H
Zbo TR T L7 KEHEBEIZREI L7 Z O A GE SR D 583
5281 I T, HAROAFEIZ. 52H A TL
20054E3 H31HZ S - THR T L7z AFHEBEIZ BT 52 o Ay it
AEZRDSEHEUI388 Y T Ty seHIzR DA RHEIE. 183 T
TL72

X5C 5—IEEE
20074F }% 1°20064E3 H31HBAE O M EIE B O WERIZ DL T
DFEY T,

ERE TkFV

2007 2006 2007
B ¥ 4,409 ¥ 4,014 $ 37,336
ALBMN 894 983 7,571
JERE R B O M i i 6,655 6,171 56,355
K - 35 _
WRoE 14k 7 19 59

¥ 11,965 ¥ 11,222 $ 101,321

EiC 6—HIREE

20074 J O°20064E3 H31HBUAE . U755 O FIME A4
e OB A8 0 9 B R B G R 1I1890 F1 5 1 (7,537
TREV) ROL125E T THY . LTV Z E L
VT o#y) T

Vi) TokEV

2007 2006 2007
L] ¥ 179 ¥ 201 $ 1516
R 1 387 456 3,277
+3t 1,780 1,780 15,073

¥ 2,346 ¥ 2,437 $ 19,866

R 7-REEHMEABERURBAEBARRS

20074F: } 0°20064F-3 H31HBIAE 0 e LR [z O AR > 4 101
AR H ORI GEF) X, 2N 210.59% 05 3.25% K OF
041%%53.25% 2% 0 E 35

20074} O°20064:3 H31 HBLIE O W A8 1Z LT

YT VIR TRRL
2007 2006 2007
FI%0.32%%55.03%
AT 205 D MEFHAR 7 OF
ARG A4 BB A
B O AR 25 D
PR A 4
GRFMR  20164F) ¥ 24,066 ¥ 17,538 §$ 203,794
FI1.01% ML %
(3501 BR20074E) 10,000 10,000 84,681
FI%0.51% MEFHRAL %
(i 3 0T R 20084F) 10,000 10,000 84,681
FI%0.92% U4
(5% 01 FR20094E) 10,000 10,000 84,681

54,066 47,538 457,837
(ARG PRI A
%) (15,351)  (7,272)  (129,994)
1 ¥ 38,715 ¥ 40,266 § 327,843

o
g0

20074E3 31 HIAE . RIAAE A O 4F 0 R IR
DTo@)TI,

KAMEEERIABIH =Vl TRFV

20084 ¥ 15,351 $ 129,994
20094 15,891 134,567
20104F 13,074 110,712
20114 1,744 14,768
20124 1,724 14,599
201345 LR 6,282 53,197

¥ 54,066 $ 457,837

;50 8—BRERH

20074E3H3IHBUE, 85 = F I LT YN —F 93T 5T
W B BB IREED & 42 U 2 B 38 18513 34,651 F 5 1 (293,429
TRIV)THY, COEFIMTAHFZ EFD/ZTaf b
RYF =D AR AA34,550 7 )5 1 (292,573 F- K RV )
EEOELOTT, COMFRIEDH L, Uil HHHAIX326
AN Q761 T RKMV) THYE T,

75 O—#iEE
TERL2 (QVZREHRODEY MU PEOHRIE. [RREFA L, [ 3 -
PSR | ROT AR T4 | DX 5 A O S ToOE g,

HARD £33 IHEE 2128 Y 2006455 HTHIC HtifT Sh T
WE 9, HARD&HE:Z. 20064E5 HIH DR 5L L2384
ROZENPBICR TS5 RHEE»S#EH SN T T,

ARDBEA R OHUMO T T3, LASHOLHZ BASE
WCHIANBZEARDOLNTOE T, 72720 Bl & O Peik
W2&0. LA SHD25r D 1% 2 2\ P T B A M Al 4 (B A
FREICHEENTVET)ETHIELDTEE T,

KT MREOR LD D 7B B BA M4
B ORI M4 FIRRERAEICETNTOET) O AR
BARED2\ETHETIE. BY PEEADI0%E., BARSE
D25% HIE A HESi 5 B ORI A B D G EHHZ B 2% 555
DHH, VT NAVPNSOEFZ B Y O JFE IS UTEAMES
&AM A IR CTAZ LD ER IR TV,

IHRGE: Tl B 4 N ORI M & O AFHEAE A
BD25%\ETHETIE, FAREIM (RUYERTZ 0D
B ) o4 % L b10% % Flts #EAi S ICHOL TH I L2t
FRENTVWEL,

[HRGEE I, EAHE S 6 ORI e A AU, R BRSO
HEDSTRIABEMICIETONDITA B X DU LT
BARGIHMANLZENTEE L2, — . STl s
DM DM, TRTHERAZOIENERSNT T,

A HEARG 42 B OFIRE M 413 B M D E ITIZ e D R A
72720 . HRGEE Tl EAHES 6 ] ORI 4% HE A 4 0 A 5
WEARED25%% B2 7255671 RERZOYGERICI T,
Bl M ICFECTHIENMRETL2e — 7 &b Tl BA A
SR ORI NGO BF P BARED25% % BT RN
BEITBVTH, RERZOIGRITI ST, EARMEMR SR
IR HEM 413, T OMEARR RS (BARREICETA T
£9) ROZ OMF R 2 E PR RS EEhTwET)
ANENZENRYBEZDZERTHET T, 2B, MEf4Ld
MY DIEEERDVET,

B 24 W] R B EE AR H AR 0 324 S OYBLHNC HE T 24tk o g
BRI OEHEINE T,

20074E6 A28 HIZ B A 7z bk ERR A ITB W T, 1, 277
B (10, 814 T K FV) ORELY 4% L4 BAMRIITLD
KRARINFL72 SO DOFREMSE, 20074E3 H31HIZ
RBEREM B RITARSNTOTRA BB RSN S
FHRFEICKIDRBIN - SEHEE ISR SN E T,

Hokuetsu Paper Mills, Ltd.

37



38

EEC 10— ZEAHE

WAV =Tk, iRk A B SRS TED,
20074 20064F K 0F20054E3H31HZ o TR T Lz ARHERE
WCBITBHEEFERBIARIL, 395% THIE T,

20074F B UN20054E3H31HA D - TH T 35 R FHEEICBW
Ti&, B FERNBR LB R SR ZOBEAB SO
FLOMET, ERPEETLEVDORMRLTVE A,

20064E3 H31HZ b > TR T L2 AFHEEICB VT, B8
FRIBLHR L BN AFHET OB ABSE OB LD EE
BRI T oMY TY,

2006

PE FABLIR 39.5%
AAHBIHEA SRV 0.9
SZIE Y SR A SR A SN WIHH (1.4)
i B S B A 0.5
ST 5 | 24 A0 8.1

Z DAt 1.3
Bia R SEHE N 0B AB IS o AR 48.9%

20074F B O20064E3 H31HIRAE S BT A REBL 4 E o L O
AFOREELHRER LT O@EY T,

HH TkRFV
2007 2006 2007
bt}

ML B4 P
BN P R FE BRI A% ¥ 282 ¥ 315 $ 2,388
RILFEBG R — 94 —
K55I MEHER R A 804 790 6,808
Z Db 793 272 6,715
PRI NG 1,879 1,471 15,912
FEAMES |24 % (72) (70) (610)
MIERi&E R A ¥ 1,807 ¥ 1,401 § 15,302

[ 5

MR 4 P
BEGHTLERETARERAR ¥ 2,961 ¥ 2,764 $ 25,074
T HRBR 87 | S SRR AM - 314 -
i1 5 B B AR T BRI % 1,288 1,206 10,907
Z oMb 691 296 5,852
MOEBL A E  /NGE 4,940 4,580 41,833
SIS | 24 % (442) (462) (3,743)
MIERi&E R A ¥ 4,498 ¥ 4,118 $ 38,090

MR 4 AL
U A D A 4 ¥(2,029)  ¥(1,563) $(17,182)
i1 5 B B E MR 4 (682) (635) (5,775)
Z DA AR 25 S Al A 4 (4,532) (6,002)  (38,378)
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MRAEBL G4 e A it (WA ¥ (956) ¥(2,754) $ (8,096)
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS | [ s

Thousands of Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S. dollars (Note 1) Millions of yen U.S. dollars (Note 1)
ASSETS 2007 2006 2007 LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 2007 2006 2007
CURRENT ASSETS: CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Cash and deposits (Note 3) ¥ 10,274 ¥ 7,422 $ 87,001 Short-term loans (Note 6 & 7) ¥ 23,225 ¥ 26,112 $ 196,672
Notes and accounts receivable: Current maturities of long-term debt (Note 6 & 7) 15,351 7,272 129,994
Trade 39,194 36,657 331,899 Notes and accounts payable:
Unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates 15,677 14,729 132,755 Trade 19,405 19,568 164,324
Other 941 501 7,969 Unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates 2,140 2,150 18,122
Allowance for doubtful accounts (87) (96) (737) Other 4,444 2,518 37,632
Inventories (Note 5) 11,965 11,222 101,321 Income taxes payable (Note 10) 2,675 897 22,652
Deferred income taxes (Note 10) 1,807 1,401 15,302 Accrued expenses 5,470 5,083 46,321
Prepaid expenses and other 1,456 1,720 12,330 Other 1,163 1,715 9,848
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 81,227 73,556 687,840 TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 73,873 65,315 625,565
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Note 6): LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:
Land and timberland 12,314 10,990 104,276 Long-term debt (Note 6 & 7), less current maturities 38,715 40,266 327,843
Buildings and structures 52,505 50,067 444,619 Deferred income taxes (Note 10) 4,084 5,371 34,584
Machinery and equipment 281,887 269,414 2,387,052 Employees’ severance and retirement benefits (Note 16) 7,583 7,098 64,214
Construction in progress 27,030 8,960 228,893 Retirement benefits for directors and corporate auditors 127 793 1,076
373,736 339,431 3,164,840 Accrued environmental expenditures 263 - 2,227
Less accumulated depreciation (225,965) (220,693) (1,913,498) Other 1,040 213 8,807
NET PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 147,771 118,738 1,251,342

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Note 8)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS: NET ASSETS (Note 9)
Investments in securities (Note 4) 29,566 29,575 250,368 OWNER'S EQUITY:
Investments in and receivables from unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates 3,468 3,270 29,367 Common stock:
Long-term loans receivable 385 453 3,260 authorized
Guarantee deposits 2,283 2,489 19,333 — 500,000,000 shares in 2007
Deferred income taxes (Note 10) 1,321 1,216 11,186 — 260,000,000 shares in 2006
Other 3,480 3,663 29,470 issued and outstanding
Allowance for doubtful accounts (377) (474) (3,192) — 214,052,054 shares in 2007
TOTAL INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS 40,126 40,192 339,792 — 164,052,054 shares in 2006 42,021 26,821 355,839
¥ 269,124 ¥ 232,486 $ 2,278,974 Capital surplus 40,244 25,094 340,791
Retained earnings 54,464 52,417 461,207
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. Treasury stock (1 1025) (871) (8,680)
TOTAL OWNER'S EQUITY 135,704 103,461 1,149,157

ACCUMULATED GAINS FROM VALUATION AND TRANSLATION ADJUSTMENTS

Unrealized holding gains on securities, net of taxes 7,014 9,339 59,395
Unrealized gains on hedging derivatives, net of taxes 29 - 246
TOTAL ACCUMULATED GAINS FROM VALUATION AND TRANSLATION ADJUSTIMENTS 7,043 9,339 59,641
MINORITY INTERESTS 692 630 5,860
TOTAL NET ASSETS 143,439 113,430 1,214,658

¥ 269,124 ¥ 232,486 $ 2,278,974
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME | (0 e vach 31, 3007 2006 and 2005 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS | (0 tricd voreh 31, 2007 2006 and 2005

Thousands of Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S. dollars (Note 1) Millions of yen U.S. dollars (Note 1)
2007 2006 2005 2007 2007 2006 2005 2007
NET SALES (Notes 11 & 17) ¥ 158,992 ¥ 153,692 ¥ 151,205 $ 1,346,363 CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

COST OF SALES (Note 11) 127,771 125,112 116,729 1,081,980 Income before income taxes and minority interests ¥ 7,300 ¥ 6,418 ¥ 11,510 $ 61,817
Gross Profit 31,221 28,580 34,476 264,383 Depreciation and amortization 10,566 13,663 12,950 89,474
Impairment loss of fixed assets — 344 - —

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES (Note 12) 22,171 21,648 21,567 187,747 Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,229 507 536 10,407
Operating Income 9,050 6,932 12,909 76,636 Advanced depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,834 — - 23,999
Income from national subsidies (2,879) — — (24,380)
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES): Interest and dividend income (370) (343) (313) (3,133)
Interest and dividend income 370 343 313 3,133 Interest expenses ] . 730 684 942 b;182
Interest expenses (730) (684) (942) (6,182) (Increase) Decrease !n hotes an.d accounts receivable (3,541) (807) (987) (29,986)
Equity in income of affiliates 121 105 73 1,025 (Increase) Decrease !n inventories (742) (1,089) (1,350) (6,283)

. . . . Increase (Decrease) in notes and accounts payable 801 65 1,474 6,783
Gain on sales of investments in securities, net 303 — — 2,566 . . .

. ) ) i, Increase (Decrease) in employees’ severance and retirement benefits 485 138 521 4,107
Loss on devaluation of investments in securities (15) (22) — (127) ) . ) ) .

. . . ) o Increase (Decrease) in retirement benefits for directors and corporate auditors 46 (167) 73 390
Loss on devaluation of investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and . . .

- Increase (Decrease) in accrued environmental expenditures 263 - - 2,227
affiliates , (82) - - ekl Other, net @) (107) 354 (59)
Loss on disposal ,Of proper'(.y,lplant and equipment (1,173) (444) (536) (9,933) Subtotal 16,715 19,306 25.710 141,545
Income from national subsidies 2,879 - - 24,380 Interest and dividend income received 392 363 333 3,319
Advanced depreciation of property, plant and equipment (2,834) — — (23,999) Interest paid (720) (696) (1,010) (6,097)
Impairment loss of fixed assets (Note 13) — (344) - — Income taxes paid (1,480) (2,907) (5,913) (12,533)
Provision for environmental expenditures (263) - - (2,227) NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 14,907 16,066 19,120 126,234
One-time amortization of prior service costs (85) — (154) (720)

Loss from earthquake damage - - (657) - CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Costs in relation to tender offer (624) — — (5,284) Payments for time deposits (74) (35) (30) (627)
Other, net 383 532 504 3,243 Proceeds from time deposits 37 54 46 313
(1,750) (514) (1,399) (14,819) Payments for purchases of securities (4,152) (512) (391) (35,159)
Proceeds from sales of securities 481 538 388 4,073
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES AND MINORITY INTERESTS 7,300 6,418 11,510 61,817 Proceeds from redemption of investment securities - 1,000 - -
Payments for acquisition of shares of consolidated subsidiary — (73) - —
INCOME TAXES (Note 10): Payments for purchases of property, plant and equipment (41,865) (16,825) (10,174) (354,518)
Current 3,182 1,496 4,676 26,945 Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 27 204 85 229
Deferred (349) 1,645 (238) (2,955) Proceeds from national subsidies 2,152 — — 18,223
2,833 3,141 4,438 23,990 Other, net (386) (182) (424) (3,268)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (43,780) (15,831) (10,500) (370,734)
INCOME BEFORE MINORITY INTERESTS 4,467 3,277 7,072 37,827
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Increase (Decrease) in short-term loans (2,887) 4,852 78 (24,447)
MINORITY INTERESTS 2 39 13 610 Proceeds from long-term loans 13,800 300 400 116,860
Repayments of long-term loans (7,272) (2,948) (9,215) (61,580)
NET INCOME B ¥ 3,238 ¥ 6,959 $ Sl Proceeds from issuance of common stock by allocation to third party 30,350 — - 257,007
Proceeds from issuance of unsecured yen straight bonds — — 10,000 —
Redemption of unsecured yen straight bonds — — (10,000) —
Dividends paid (2,254) (2,125) (1,803) (19,087)
Payments for purchases of treasury stock (42) (680) (20) (356)
Yen U.S. dollars (Note 1) Other, net (6) 7 32 (51)
2007 2006 2005 2007 NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES 31,689 (608) (10,528) 268,346
Amounts per share of common stock (Note 2):
Net income Y 22.75 ¥ 19.31 ¥ 41.92 $ 0.19 TRANSLATION LOSS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 0 52 2 0
Diluted net income — — - —
Cash dividends applicable to the year 12.00 12.00 12.00 0.10 NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2,816 (321) (1,906) 23,846
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 7,319 7,640 9,546 61,978
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR (Note 3) ¥ 10,135 ¥ 7,319 ¥ 7,640 $ 85,824

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

HOKUETSU PAPER MILLS, LTD.
Years ended March 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

Millions of yen

Unrealized holding Unrealized gains on Total accumulated

NL,lsrP:\:reersof Common stock Capital surplus Retained earnings Treasury stock owngr?:aelquity gaizse?r;:i;:;isties, hed%i:tgocﬁ?;:ives' gaianrf;rtor;nnzlaaltl'i‘g;ion Minority interests neIZtsilets
adjustments

Balance at March 31, 2004 164,052,054 ¥ 26,821 ¥ 25,094 ¥ 46,342 ¥ (199) ¥ 98,058 ¥ 3,743 ¥ — ¥ 3,743 ¥ 628 ¥ 102,429
Net income — — — 6,959 — 6,959 — — — — 6,959
Sales of treasury stock, net — — — — 12 12 — — — — 12
Cash dividends paid (¥11.00 per share) — — — (1,804) — (1,804) — — — — (1,804)
Bonuses to directors — — — (96) — (96) — — — — (96)
Loss on disposal of treasury stock — — — (1) — (1) — — — — (1)
Net changes during the year — — — — — — 341 — 341 101 442

Balance at March 31, 2005 164,052,054 26,821 25,094 51,400 (187) 103,128 4,084 — 4,084 729 107,941
Net income — — — 3,238 — 3,238 — — — — 3,238
Purchases of treasury stock, net — — — — (684) (684) — — — — (684)
Cash dividends paid (¥13.00 per share) — — — (2,125) — (2,125) — — — — (2,125)
Bonuses to directors — — — (96) — (96) — — — — (96)
Net changes during the year — — — — — — 5,255 — 5,255 (99) 5,156

Balance at March 31, 2006 164,052,054 26,821 25,094 52,417 (871) 103,461 9,339 — 9,339 630 113,430
Net income — — — 4,395 — 4,395 — — — — 4,395
Issuance of common stock by allocation to third party 50,000,000 15,200 15,150 — — 30,350 — — — — 30,350
Sales of treasury stock, net — — — — (154) (154) — — — — (154)
Cash dividends paid (¥12.00 per share) — — — (2,254) — (2,254) — — — — (2,254)
Bonuses to directors — — — (94) — (94) — — — — (94)
Net changes during the year — — — — — — (2,325) 29 (2,296) 62 (2,234)

Balance at March 31, 2007 214,052,054 ¥ 42,021 ¥ 40,244 ¥ 54,464 ¥ (1,025) ¥ 135,704 ¥ 7,014 ¥ 29 ¥ 7,043 ¥ 692 ¥ 143,439

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)
. . . . Total accumulated
Nusrrr:;:nrirsof Common stock Capital surplus Retained earnings Treasury stock own;rr?sta:elquity gg{iszgae;cégﬁi:tjilgg #:J%%gc%rj\;ezisvg: gaian:;ftl:;nnzlzltuig:‘ion Minority interests ne-'lc-ztsilets
adjustments

Balance at March 31, 2006 164,052,054 $ 227,124 $ 212,499 $ 443,873 $ (7,376) $ 876,120 $ 79,083 $ — $ 79,083 $ 5,335 $ 960,538
Net income - - — 37,217 — 37,217 - — — — 37,217
Issuance of common stock by allocation to third party 50,000,000 128,715 128,292 - — 257,007 - — — — 257,007
Sales of treasury stock, net - - — - (1,304) (1,304) - — — — (1,304)
Cash dividends paid ($0.10 per share) - - — (19,087) — (19,087) - — — — (19,087)
Bonuses to directors - - — (796) — (796) - — — — (796)
Net changes during the year — — — — — — (19,688) 246 (19,442) 525 (18,917)

Balance at March 31, 2007 214,052,054 $ 355,839 $ 340,791 $ 461,207 $ (8,680) $ 1,149,157 $ 59,395 $ 246 $ 59,641 $ 5,860 $ 1,214,658

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | Hoxuersu paper mis, 1o,

Note 1—Basis of Presenting Consolidated
Financial Statements
The accompanying consolidated financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with the provisions
set forth in the Japanese Securities and Exchange Law
and its related accounting regulations, and in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan
(hereafter, “Japanese GAAP"), which are different in
certain respects as to application and disclosure
requirements of International Financial Reporting
Standards.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements
have been restructured and translated into English (with
certain expanded disclosure and the inclusion of the
consolidated statements of changes in net assets for
2006 and 2005) from the consolidated financial
statements of Hokuetsu Paper Mills, Ltd. (hereafter, “the
Company"”) prepared in accordance with Japanese GAAP
and filed with the appropriate Local Finance Bureau of
the Ministry of Finance as required by the Securities and
Exchange Law. Certain supplementary information
included in the statutory Japanese language
consolidated financial statements, but not required for
fair presentation, is not presented in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

The translation of the Japanese yen amounts into U.S.
dollars is included solely for the convenience of readers
outside Japan, using the prevailing exchange rate at
March 31, 2007, which was ¥118.09 to US$1.00. The
convenience translation should not be construed as
representations that the Japanese yen amounts have
been, could have been, or could in the future be,
converted into U.S. dollars at this or any other rate of
exchange.

Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the

accounts of the Company and its significant

subsidiaries (hereafter, “the Companies”). All

significant inter-company balances, transactions and

unrealized profits have been eliminated in

consolidation.
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In the elimination of investments in subsidiaries, the
assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries, including the
portion attributable to minority shareholders, are
evaluated using the fair value at the time the
Company acquired control of the respective
subsidiaries. The differences between the investment
cost and net assets of subsidiaries acquired are
amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of 5
years. However, the excess is charged (or credited) to
income in the period of acquisition when the amounts
are immaterial.

Investments in all significant unconsolidated
subsidiaries and affiliates are accounted for by the
equity method.

Number of consolidated subsidiaries and companies
under the application of the equity method is as
follows:

Number of companies

2007 2006 2005
Consolidated subsidiaries 10 10 11
Affiliates applied by equity

method 7 6 6

Niigata GCC Co., Ltd., which was established on
March 12, 2007 as an affiliate, has been accounted for
by the equity method from the year ended March 31,
2007.

lwate Mokuzai Kogyo Co., Ltd., which had been
included in the consolidated financial statements until
the year ended March 31, 2005, was excluded from the
scope of consolidation for the year ended March 31,
2006 since the Company sold all shares.

Hokuetsu Suiun Co., Ltd., which was established on
April 1, 2004, is included in the consolidated financial
statements from the year ended March 31, 2005.

Staff Saito Co., Ltd., which was newly invested and
became an affiliate, has been accounted for by the
equity method from the year ended March 31, 2005.

(b) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

In preparing the consolidated statements of cash flows,
cash on hand, readily-available deposits and short-term
highly liquid investments with maturities of not
exceeding three months at the time of purchase are
considered to be cash and cash equivalents, and which
represent an insignificant risk of change in value.

(c) Translation of Foreign Currencies

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into Japanese yen at the
exchange rates at the balance sheet date with the
resulting gain or loss included in the current statements
of income.

(d) Securities

Under Japanese accounting standards for financial
instruments, all companies are required to examine the
intent of holding each security and classify those
securities as (a) securities held for trading purposes
(hereafter, “trading securities”), (b) debt securities
intended to be held to maturity (hereafter, “held-to-
maturity debt securities”), (c) equity securities issued by
subsidiaries and affiliates or (d) all other securities that
are not classified in any of the above categories
(hereafter, "available-for-sale securities”). The
Companies did not have the securities defined as (a) and
(b) above in the years ended March 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005.

Equity securities issued by unconsolidated subsidiaries
and affiliates not accounted for by the equity method
are stated at the moving-average cost.

If the market value of available-for-sale securities
declines significantly, such securities are stated at fair
market value and the difference between fair market
value and the carrying amount is recognized as loss in
the period of the decline. Debt securities with no
available fair market value are stated at the amortized

cost, net of the amount considered not collectible. If the

fair market value of equity securities, except for those
accounted for by the equity method, is not readily
available, such securities should be written down to net
asset value with a corresponding charge in the
statement of income in the event net asset value

declines significantly. In these cases, such fair market
value or the net asset value will be the carrying amount
of the securities at the beginning of the next year.

Available-for-sale securities maturing within one year
from the balance sheet date are included in current
assets, and other securities are included in investments
and other assets.

Available-for-sale securities with available fair market
values are stated at fair market value. Unrealized gain
and loss on these securities are reported, net of
applicable income taxes, as a separate component of
accumulated gains from valuation and translation
adjustments in net assets section. Realized gain and loss
on sale of such securities are computed using the
moving-average cost.

(e) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Companies provide the allowance for doubtful
accounts in an amount sufficient to cover probable
losses on collection by estimating individually
uncollectible amounts in addition to applying an actual
rate of bad debts incurred in the past.

(f) Inventories

Inventories are stated at cost. Cost is primarily
determined by the monthly average method for raw
materials, supplies and finished goods. Cost of work-in-
process is primarily determined using the FIFO (first-in,
first-out) method. The specific identification method is
used to determine the cost of timber and land for sale.
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(g) Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost.
National subsidies are deducted directly from the cost of
the related assets.

Buildings, machinery and equipment owned by the
Company, and consolidated subsidiaries’ buildings
acquired after March 31, 1998 are depreciated using the
straight-line method over the useful lives prescribed by
the Japanese tax regulations. The other tangible fixed
assets are depreciated using the declining-balance
method at rates determined based on the useful lives
prescribed by the Japanese tax regulations.

Effective from the year ended March 31, 2007, the
Company changed its method of accounting for depreciation
of pulp manufacturing and steam generator equipments,
which are included in machinery and equipment on the
consolidated balance sheets, located in Niigata Mill, all
machinery and equipment located in Nagaoka Mill excluding
fiber board manufacturing equipments, and all machinery
and equipment located in the other places from the
declining-balance method to the straight-line method. This
change was made for the purpose of improving the
matching of revenue and costs by leveling out depreciation
expenses over the useful lives of the assets concerned.

As a result of this change, depreciation expense
decreases by ¥2,806 million ($23,762 thousand), operating
income and income before income taxes and minority
interests increase by ¥2,713 million (322,974 thousand)
and ¥2,715 million (322,991 thousand), respectively.

Expenditures for new facilities and those that
substantially increase the useful lives of existing plant
and equipment are capitalized. Maintenance, repair and
minor renewals are charged to expenses as incurred.

(h) Impairment of Fixed Assets

Effective from the year ended March 31, 2006, the
Companies adopted the new accounting standard for
impairment of fixed assets (“Opinion Concerning
Establishment of Accounting Standard for Impairment of
Fixed Assets” issued by the Business Accounting Deliberation
Council on August 9, 2002) and “Implementation Guidance
for the Accounting Standard for Impairment of Fixed Assets”
(the Financial Accounting Standard Implementation
Guidance No. 6 issued by the Accounting Standards Board
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of Japan on October 31, 2003).

As a result, income before income taxes and minority
interests decreased by ¥344 million for the year ended
March 31, 2006. Accumulated impairment loss is deducted
directly from the acquisition costs of the related assets in
accordance with the revised disclosure requirements.

(i) Finance Leases

Finance leases, except those leases for which the ownership of
the leased assets is considered to be transferred to the lessee,
are accounted for in the same manner as operating leases.

(j) Employees’ Severance and Retirement Benefits
Employees severing their connections with the Companies
on retirement or otherwise are entitled, in most
circumstances, to a lump-sum severance payment and
annuity payments based on current rates of pay, length
of service and certain other factors. Most employees are
covered by two retirement benefit plans, an unfunded
lump-sum severance payment plan and a funded
noncontributory defined benefit pension plan.

The liabilities and expenses for severance and
retirement benefits are determined based on the
amounts actuarially calculated using certain assumptions.

The Companies provided allowance for employees’
severance and retirement benefits based on the estimated
amounts of projected benefit obligation and the fair value
of the pension assets at the balance sheet date.

Actuarial gains or losses are recognized as income or
expenses using the declining-balance method over a certain
period (10 years) within the average of the estimated
remaining service lives commencing with the following
period. Prior service costs are expensed as incurred.

Effective from the year ended March 31, 2006, the
Companies adopted the new accounting standard for
employees’ pension and retirement benefits and related
guidance (Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 3,
“Partial Revision of Accounting Standard for Retirement
Benefits” and Financial Accounting Standard Implementation
Guidance No. 7, “Implementation Guidance for Partial
Revision of Accounting Standard for Retirement Benefits”,
issued on March 16, 2005). The effect of adopting this new
accounting standard on the consolidated statement of
income for the year ended March 31, 2006 is immaterial.

(k) Retirement Benefits for Directors and
Corporate Auditors
Directors who are the members of the Board of Directors
and corporate auditors severing their connections with
consolidated subsidiaries upon retirement or otherwise
are entitled, in most circumstances, to lump-sum
severance payments based on current rates of pay,
length of services and certain other factors, including
contributions to the consolidated subsidiaries. The
consolidated subsidiaries accrue 100% of obligations
based on their rules under the assumption that all
directors and corporate auditors retired at the balance
sheet date.

The Board of Directors of the Company made a
resolution that the abolishment of the retirement
benefits plan for directors and corporate auditors. Since
the annual shareholders’ meeting held on June 28, 2006
approved that the final allowance are to be paid at the
time of retirement based on each director’s or auditor’s
tenure as June 28, 2006, the unpaid portion of ¥713
million ($6,038 thousand) is included in other (long-term
liabilities) on the consolidated balance sheets.

() Accrued Environmental Costs

Accrued environmental costs are provided at an
estimated amount to dispose of PCB (polychlorinated
biphenyl) waste under the Law Concerning Special
Measures against PCB Waste.

(m) Issuance Costs of Stocks and Bonds
Issuance costs of stocks and bonds are expensed as
incurred.

(n) Derivatives and Hedge Accounting

The Companies state derivative financial instruments at
fair value and recognize changes in the fair value as gain
or loss unless derivative financial instruments are used
for hedging purposes.

If derivative financial instruments are used as hedges
and meet certain hedging criteria, the Companies defer
recognition of gain or loss resulting from changes in fair
value of derivative financial instruments until the related
loss or gain on the hedged items is recognized.

Also, if interest rate swap contracts are used as

hedges and meet certain hedging criteria, the net
amount to be paid or received under the interest rate
swap contract is added to or deducted from the interest
on the assets or liabilities for which the swap contract
was executed.

(o) Income Taxes

The Companies recognize tax effects of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for tax and financial reporting. The provision
for income taxes is computed based on the pretax
income included in the consolidated statements of
income. The asset and liability approach is used to
recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the
expected future tax consequences of temporary
differences.

(p) Per Share Information

Net income per share is computed based upon the
average number of shares of common stock outstanding
during each year. The average number of common
shares used in the computation was 193,156,338
shares, 162,852,894 shares and 163,631,886 shares in
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Diluted net income
per share is not disclosed because potentially dilutive
securities are not issued.

Cash dividends per share have been presented on an
accrual basis and include dividends to be approved after
the balance sheet date, but applicable to the year then
ended.
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(q) Accounting Standard for Presentation of

Net Assets in the Balance Sheet
Effective from the year ended March 31, 2007, the
Companies adopted the new accounting standard,
“ Accounting Standard for Presentation of Net Assets in
the Balance Sheet” (Statement No. 5 issued by the
Accounting Standards Board of Japan on December 9,
2005), and the implementation guidance for the
accounting standard for presentation of net assets in the
balance sheet (the Financial Accounting Standard
Implementation Guidance No. 8 issued by the
Accounting Standards Board of Japan on December 9,
2005), (collectively, the “New Accounting Standards”).

Under the New Accounting Standards, the balance
sheet comprises three sections, which are the assets,
liabilities and net assets sections. Previously, the balance
sheet comprised the assets, liabilities, minority interests
and the shareholders’ equity sections.

Under the New Accounting Standards, the following
items are presented differently compared to the previous
presentation. The net assets section includes unrealized
gains/losses on hedging derivatives, net of taxes. Under
the previous presentation rules, companies were
required to present unrealized gains/losses on hedging
derivatives in the assets or liabilities section without
considering the related income tax effects. Minority
interests are required to be included in the net assets
section under the New Accounting Standards. Under
the previous presentation rules, companies were
required to present minority interests between the long-
term liabilities and shareholders’ equity sections.

The consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2006
has been restated to conform to the 2007 presentation.
The adoption of the New Accounting Standards had no
impacts on the consolidated statement of income for the
year ended March 31, 2007 and 2006. Also, if the New
Accounting Standards had not been adopted at March
31, 2007, the shareholders’ equity amounting to
¥142,718 million ($1,208,553 thousand) would have
been presented.

(r) Accounting Standard for Statement of
Changes in Net Assets
Effective from the year ended March 31, 2007, the
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Companies adopted the new accounting standard,

" Accounting Standard for Statement of Changes in Net
Assets” (Statement No. 6 issued by the Accounting
Standards Board of Japan on December 27, 2005), and
the implementation guidance for the accounting
standard for statement of changes in net assets (the
Financial Accounting Standard Implementation Guidance
No. 9 issued by the Accounting Standards Board of
Japan on December 27, 2005), (collectively, the

" Additional New Accounting Standards”).

Accordingly, the Company prepared the statements of
changes in net assets for the year ended March 31, 2007
in accordance with the Additional New Accounting
Standards. Also, the Company voluntarily prepared the
consolidated statement of changes in net assets for
2006 and 2005 in accordance with the Additional New
Accounting Standards. Previously, consolidated
statements of shareholders’ equity were prepared for the
purpose of inclusion in the consolidated financial
statements although such statements were not required
under Japanese GAAP.

(s) Reclassification and Restatement
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to
conform to the current year presentation. Also, as
described in Notes 2(q) and 2(r), the consolidated
balance sheet for 2006 has been adapted to conform to
new presentation rules of 2007. Also, in lieu of the
consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity for the
year ended March 31, 2006 and 2005, which were
prepared on a voluntary basis for inclusion in the 2006
and 2005 consolidated financial statements, the
Company prepared the consolidated statements of
changes in net assets for 2006 and 2005 as well as for
2007.

These reclassifications had no impact on previously
reported results of operations or retained earnings.

Note 3—Cash and Cash Equivalents
Reconciliation of cash and deposits shown in the
consolidated balance sheets and cash and cash
equivalents shown in the consolidated statements of
cash flows at March 31, 2007 and 2006 is as follows:

Thousands of

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2007

Type Acquisition cost Book value Difference

Millions of yen US. dollars
2007 2006 2007
Cash and deposits ¥ 10,274 ¥ 7,422 $ 87,001
Less time deposits with
maturities exceeding three months (139) (103) (1,177)

Equity securities:
with book value (fair
value) exceeding
acquisition costs
with book value (fair
value) not exceeding
acquisition costs 12,854 11,931 (923)

$ 81,633 $ 179,846 $ 98,213

$ 94,487 $ 191,777 $ 97,290

Cash and cash equivalents ¥ 10,135 ¥ 7,319 $ 85,824

Note 4—Securities

The following tables summarize acquisition costs and
book value of securities with available fair value as of
March 31, 2007 and 2006:

Available-for-sale Securities:

Millions of yen

2007

Type Acquisition cost Book value Difference

Equity securities:
with book value (fair
value) exceeding
acquisition costs ¥ 9,640 ¥ 21,238 ¥ 11,598
with book value (fair
value) not exceeding
acquisition costs 1,518 1,409 (109)

¥ 11,158 ¥ 22,647 ¥ 11,489

Millions of yen

2006

Type Acquisition cost Book value Difference

Equity securities:
with book value (fair
value) exceeding
acquisition costs ¥ 9,924 ¥ 25,119 ¥ 15,195
with book value (fair
value) not exceeding
acquisition costs 22 21 (1)

¥ 9,946 ¥ 25,140 ¥ 15,194

The following tables summarize book value of
securities with no available fair value as of March 31,
2007 and 2006:

Available-for-sale Securities:

Millions of yen TB?g Sﬁgﬁgé’f

Type 2007 2006 2007

Non-listed equity securities ¥ 6,919 ¥ 4435 $ 58,591

Total sales of available-for-sale securities sold in the year
ended March 31, 2007 amounted to ¥481million
($4,073 thousand) and the related gains amounted to
¥303 million ($2,566 thousand). Total sales of available-
for-sale securities sold in the year ended March 31, 2006
amounted to ¥528 million and the related gains
amounted to ¥52 million. Total sales of available-for-
sale securities sold in the year ended March 31, 2005
amounted to ¥388 million and the related gains
amounted to ¥183 million, respectively.

Note 5—Inventories
Inventories at March 31, 2007 and 2006 are summarized

as follows:

Millions of yen TB(_’SL{Sggﬁasr?f

2007 2006 2007

Finished goods ¥ 4,409 ¥ 4014 $ 37,336
Work-in-process 894 983 7,571
Raw materials and supplies 6,655 6,171 56,355
Timber - 35 -
Land for sale 7 19 59

¥ 11,965 ¥11,222  $ 101,321
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Note 6—Assets Pledged

Assets pledged as collateral for short-term bank loans
and long-term debt totaling ¥890 million
($7,537thousand) and ¥1,125million, respectively, at
March 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

Thousands of

Millions of yen US. dollars

2007 2006 2007
Building ¥ 179 ¥ 201 $ 1,516
Equipment 387 456 3,277
Land 1,780 1,780 15,073

¥ 2,346 ¥ 2,437 $ 19,866

Note 7—Short-term Loans and Long-term Debt
Short-term loans outstanding at March 31, 2007 and
2006 are partially secured with interest of 0.59% to
3.25% per annum and 0.41% to 3.25% per annum,
respectively.

Long-term debt at March 31, 2007 and 2006 are as
follows:

Millions of yen TBé;sggﬁgrgf

2007 2006 2007

Partially secured loans from

banks and unsecured loans

from insurance companies

and other financial institution,

0.32% to 5.03% maturing

serially through 2016 ¥ 24,066 ¥ 17,538 $ 203,794
1.01% unsecured yen

straight bonds due in 2007 10,000 10,000 84,681
0.51% unsecured yen

straight bonds due in 2008 10,000 10,000 84,681
0.92% unsecured yen

straight bonds due in 2009 10,000 10,000 84,681

54,066 47,538 457,837

Less current maturities (15,351) (7,272)  (129,994)

Total ¥ 38,715 ¥ 40,266 $ 327,843

The annual maturities of long-term debt at March 31,
2007 are as follows:

Thousands of

Year ending March 31, Millions of yen U.S. dollars
2008 ¥ 15351 $ 129,994
2009 15,891 134,567
2010 13,074 110,712
2011 1,744 14,768
2012 1,724 14,599
2013 and thereafter 6,282 53,197

¥ 54,066 $ 457,837
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Note 8 —Contingent Liabilities

Contingent liabilities at March 31, 2007 for loans
guaranteed by the Companies on behalf of third parties
amount to ¥34,651 million ($293,429 thousand), which
includes ¥34,550 million ($292,573 thousand) loans jointly
guaranteed by the investors including the Company on
behalf of a joint venture. The Company’s guarantee portion
of the joint guaranty is ¥326 million ($2,761 thousand).

Note 9—Net Assets

As described in Note 2(q), net assets comprise three
subsections, which are owners’ equity, accumulated
gains/losses from valuation and translation adjustments
and minority interests.

The Japanese Corporate Law (“the Law") became
effective on May 1, 2006, replacing the Japanese
Commercial Code (“the Code”). The Law is generally
applicable to events and transactions occurring after
April 30, 2006 and for fiscal years ending after that date.

Under Japanese laws and regulations, the entire amount
paid for new shares is required to be designated as common
stock. However, a company may, by a resolution of the
Board of Directors, designate an amount not exceeding one-
half of the price of the new shares as additional paid-in
capital, which is included in capital surplus.

Under the Law, in cases where a dividend distribution
of surplus is made, the smaller of an amount equal to
10% of the dividend or the excess, if any, of 25% of
common stock over the total of additional paid-in-capital
and legal earnings reserve must be set aside as
additional paid-in-capital or legal earnings reserve. Legal
earnings reserve is included in retained earnings in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Under the Code, companies were required to set
aside an amount equal to at least 10% of the aggregate
amount of cash dividends and other cash appropriations
as legal earnings reserve until the total of legal earnings
reserve and additional paid-in capital equaled 25% of
common stock.

Under the Code, legal earnings reserve and additional
paid-in capital could be used to eliminate or reduce a
deficit by a resolution of the shareholders’ meeting or
could be capitalized by a resolution of the Board of
Directors. Under the Law, both of these appropriations

generally require a resolution of the shareholders’ meeting.

Additional paid-in capital and legal earnings reserve
may not be distributed as dividends. Under the Code,
however, on condition that the total amount of legal
earnings reserve and additional paid-in capital remained
equal to or exceeded 25% of common stock, they were
available for distribution by resolution of the shareholders’
meeting. Under the Law, all additional paid-in-capital and
all legal earnings reserve may be transferred to other
capital surplus and retained earnings, respectively, which
are potentially available for dividends. Other capital
surplus and retained earnings are included in capital
surplus and retained earnings, respectively.

The maximum amount that the Company can
distribute as dividends is calculated based on the non-
consolidated financial statements of the Company in
accordance with Japanese laws and regulations.

At the annual shareholders’ meeting held on June 28,
2007, the shareholders approved cash dividends
amounting to ¥1,277 million ($10,814 thousand). Such
appropriations have not been accrued in the
consolidated financial statements as of March 31, 2007.
Such appropriations are recognized in the period in
which they are approved by the shareholders.

Note 10—Income Taxes

The Companies are subject to a number of taxes levied

on income, which, in the aggregate, resulted in normal

statutory income tax rates of approximately 39.5% for

the years ended March 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.
Differences between statutory tax rates and the

effective tax rates for the years ended March 31, 2007

and 2005 are not disclosed as differences are immaterial.

The following table summarizes the significant
differences between the statutory tax rate and the
Companies’ effective tax rate for financial statement
purpose for the year ended March 31, 2006:

2006

Statutory tax rate 39.5%
Non-deductible expenses 0.9
Dividends received not taxable (1.4)
Per capita inhabitants taxes 0.5
Valuation allowance 8.1
Other 1.3
Effective tax rate 48.9%

Significant components of deferred income tax assets
and liabilities at March 31, 2007 and 2006 are as
follows:

Millions of yen TU‘,’SU,SSQﬁ’aSr?f

2007 2006 2007

Current
Deferred income tax assets:
Unrealized gain from sales of
inventories between the Companies ¥ 282 ¥ 315 § 2,388

Accrued enterprise taxes - 94 —
Accrued bonuses 804 790 6,808
Other 793 272 6,715
Subtotal deferred income tax assets 1,879 1,471 15,912
Valuation allowance (72) (70) (610)

Total deferred income tax assets ¥ 1,807 ¥ 1,401 § 15,302

Non-current
Deferred income tax assets:
Employees’ severance
and retirement benefits ¥ 2,961 ¥ 2,764 $ 25,074
Retirement benefits for directors

and corporate auditors - 314 —
Unrealized gain from sales of fixed

assets between the Companies 1,288 1,206 10,907
Other 691 296 5,852
Subtotal deferred income tax assets 4,940 4,580 41,833
Valuation allowance (442) (462) (3,743)

Total deferred income tax assets ¥ 4,498 ¥ 4,118 $ 38,090

Deferred income tax liabilities:
Reserve deductible for

Japanese tax purpose ¥(2,029) ¥(1,563) $(17,182)
Reserve for deferred gain on sales

of fixed assets for tax purpose (682) (635) (5,775)
Unrealized holding gain on securities (4,532) (6,002) (38,378)
Other (18) (73) (152)

Total deferred income tax liabilities ¥ (7,261) ¥(8,273) $(61,487)

Net deferred income tax

liabilities ¥(2,763) ¥ (4,155) $(23,398)

Net deferred income tax
liabilities ¥ (956) ¥(2,754) $ (8,096)
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Note 11—Sales to and Purchases from
Unconsolidated Subsidiaries and
Affiliates

Sales to and purchases from unconsolidated subsidiaries

and affiliates for the years ended March 31, 2007, 2006

and 2005 are as follows:

Thousands of

Millions of yen U.S. dollars
2007 2006 2005 2007
Sales ¥ 36,770 ¥ 35,565 ¥ 34,489 §$ 311,373
Purchases 2,049 3,696 3,144 17,351

Note 12—Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses are recognized in
the consolidated statements of income in the year when
incurred. Research and development expenses included
in selling, general and administrative expenses are
¥1,134million ($9,603 thousand), ¥1,060 million and
¥1,201million for the years ended March 31, 2007,
2006 and2005, respectively.

Note 13—Impairment Loss of Fixed Assets
In the year ended March 31, 2006, the Companies
recorded impairment loss of fixed assets for the
following group of assets:

Use Location Type Millions of yen

|dle property Agano, Niigata

and others Land ¥ 53

Real estate for Ichihara, Chiba
rent and others Land 286
Buildings 1

Other Ichikawa,Chiba

and others Equipments

and others 4
¥ 344

The Companies classify fixed assets into groups based
on the place of business and the products with mutual
supplementation. However, the Companies classify real
estates for rent and idle properties which are not
expected to be used in the future individually.

Carrying amounts of idle properties are reduced to
their recoverable amounts due to substantial decline in
the fair market value. Carrying amounts of real estates
for rent and others are reduced to their recoverable
amounts due to decrease in profitability. The amount of
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the reduction is recognized in other expenses as
impairment loss of fixed assets.

Recoverable amount of real estates for rent and
others is value in use which is calculated by discounting
future cash flows at interest rate 7.22%, and
recoverable amount of idle properties is net selling price
which is measured based on their assessed value of fixed
assets.

Note 14—Lease Transactions
Lease transactions for the years ended March 31, 2007
and 2006 are as follows:

Finance lease transactions without ownership transfer
to lessee
(a) Purchase Price Equivalent, Accumulated
Depreciation Equivalent and Book Value Equivalent:

Thousands of
U

(d) Calculation Method of Depreciation Equivalent:
Depreciation equivalent is computed on the straight-line
method over the lease period without residual value.

Operating lease transactions

Lease commitments under non-cancelable operating
leases for the years ended March 31, 2007 and 2006 are
as follows:

Thousands of

Millions of yen U.s. dollars

2007 2006 2007
Due within one year ¥ 39 ¥ 39 $ 330
Due after one year 191 230 1,618

¥ 230 ¥ 269 $ 1,948

Millions of yen S dollars
2007 2006 2007
Machinery, equipment and others
Purchase price equivalent ¥ 1,221 ¥ 1,608 $ 10,340
Accumulated depreciation equivalent 736 1,041 6,233
Book value equivalent 485 567 4,107

Purchase price equivalent is calculated using the
inclusive-of-interest method.

(b) Lease Commitments:

Thousands of

Millions of yen US. doliars

2007 2006 2007
Due within one year ¥ 166 ¥ 210 $ 1,406
Due after one year 319 357 2,701

¥ 485 ¥ 567 $ 4,107

Lease commitments are calculated using the inclusive-
of-interest method.

(c) Lease Payments and Depreciation Equivalent:

Thousands of

Millions of yen US. dollars
2007 2006 2005 2007
Lease payments ¥ 223 ¥ 298 ¥ 337 $ 1,888
Depreciation
equivalent 223 298 337 1,888

Note 15—Derivative Transactions

Derivative financial instruments currently utilized by the
Companies include mainly forward exchange contracts,
foreign currency options and interest rate swap
contracts, all of which are for hedging purposes.

The Companies use forward exchange contracts and
foreign currency options to offset exposure to market
risks arising from changes in foreign exchange rates, and
interest rate swap contracts to lower the interest costs
related to debts and reduce the Companies’ exposure to
adverse movements in interest rates.

Forward exchange contracts, foreign currency options
and interest rate swap contracts are subject to risks of
foreign exchange rate changes and interest rate
changes, respectively.

The derivative transactions are executed and managed
by the Company’s Corporate Planning and Finance
Department in accordance with the established policies
and within the specified limits on the amounts of
derivative transactions allowed. The Manager of the
Corporate Planning and Finance Department reports
information on derivative transactions to the Board of
Directors quarterly.

The following summarizes hedging derivative financial
instruments used by the Companies and hedged items:

Hedging instruments Hedged items

Forward exchange contracts and Foreign currency trade payables
foreign currency options

Interest rate swap contracts Interest on loans payable

The Companies evaluate hedge effectiveness by
comparing the cumulative changes in cash flows from or
the changes in fair value of hedged items and the
corresponding changes in the hedging derivative
instruments. If the percentage changes of hedged items
and hedging instruments, approximately range from
80% to 125%, hedging transactions are considered to
be effective.

The Companies had no outstanding forward
exchange contracts, foreign currency options and
interest rate swap contracts for which hedge accounting
had not been applied at March 31, 2007 and 2006.

Note 16—Employees’ Severance and Retirement
Benefits

As explained in Note 2(j), the liabilities and expenses for

severance and retirement benefits are determined based

on the amounts obtained by actuarial calculations.

The liability for severance and retirement benefits
included in the liability section of the consolidated
balance sheets as of March 31, 2007 and 2006 consists
of the following:

Thousands of

Millions of yen U.S. dollars
2007 2006 2007
Projected benefit obligation ¥ (11,887) ¥ (11,013) $ (100,661)
Unrecognized actuarial differences 550 276 4,658
Less fair value of pension assets 4,452 4,300 37,700
Prepaid pension costs (698) (661) (5,911)

Liability for severance and

retirement benefits ¥ (7,583) ¥ (7,098) § (64,214)
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Included in the consolidated statements of income for
the years ended March 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 are
severance and retirement benefit expenses comprised of
the following:

Millions of yen Tﬂt_)su.sggltlj;r?f

2007 2006 2005 2007

Service costs - benefits
earned during the year ¥ 582 ¥ 475 ¥ 590 $ 4,929
Interest cost on projected

benefit obligation 208 197 187 1,761
Expected return

on pension assets (40) (30) (28) (339)
Amortization of

actuarial differences 57 90 219 483

One-time amortization

of prior service costs 85 - 154 720

Severance and
retirement
benefit expenses ¥ 892 ¥ 732 ¥ 1,122 $ 7,554

The discount rates used by the Companies are 2.0%,
for the years ended March 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.
The rates of expected return on pension assets used by
the Companies are 1.0%, mainly 1.0% and mainly 1.0%
for the years ended March 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. The estimated amount of all retirement
benefits to be paid at the future retirement date is
allocated equally to each service year using the
estimated number of total service years. Actuarial
gains/losses are recognized in statement of income using
the declining-balance method over mainly 10 years,
beginning the following fiscal year of recognition, and
prior service costs are expensed as incurred.
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Note 17 —Segment Information
Business segment information

The Companies are primarily in operation with the
following three businesses.

(1) Pulp related products:
Manufacture and sale of pulp, paper products

(2) Paper process products:
Manufacture and sale of paper process products

(3) Other:
Operations in businesses of timber, construction,
manufacture, sale, repairs and utilities of machinery,
import and sale of materials including pulp, real
estate, insurance agency, transportation and
warehouse, wholesale of used paper and other.

Millions of yen

2007

Pﬂ%&eﬁid Paz?{;g&gfj s Others Total Cjﬁ?f{:zﬁ)gr Consolidated

Sales:
Outside customers ¥ 138,201 ¥ 13,791 ¥ 7,000 ¥ 158,992 ¥ - ¥ 158,992
Intersegment 1,471 28 26,350 27,849 (27,849) —
Total 139,672 13,819 33,350 186,841 (27,849) 158,992
Operating expenses 132,103 13,514 32,418 178,035 (28,093) 149,942
Operating income ¥ 7,569 ¥ 305 ¥ 932 ¥ 8,806 ¥ 244 ¥ 9,050
Identifiable assets ¥ 240,808 ¥ 13,512 ¥ 20,243 ¥ 274,563 ¥ (5,439) ¥ 269,124
Depreciation and amortization ¥ 9,713 ¥ 565 ¥ 551 ¥ 10,829 ¥  (263) ¥ 10,566
Capital expenditures ¥ 41,114 ¥ 1,191 ¥ 1,420 ¥ 43,725 ¥  (703) ¥ 43,022

As explained in Note 2(g), effective from the year ended March 31, 2007, the Company changed its method of
accounting for depreciation of pulp manufacturing and steam generator equipments located in Niigata Mill, all
machinery and equipment located in Nagaoka Mill excluding fiber board manufacturing equipments, and all machinery
and equipment located in the other places from the declining-balance method to the straight-line method. As a result
of this change, operating income of “Pulp related products segment” increases by ¥2,713 million ($22,974 thousand).

Millions of yen

2006

Pulp related Paper process Others Total Co_rp_orat_e or Consolidated
products products elimination

Sales:
QOutside customers ¥ 133,951 ¥ 13,474 ¥ 6,267 ¥ 153,692 ¥ - ¥ 153,692
Intersegment 1,174 53 21,957 23,184 (23,184) —
Total 135,125 13,527 28,224 176,876 (23,184) 153,692
Operating expenses 129,620 13,082 27,756 170,458 (23,698) 146,760
Operating income ¥ 5,505 ¥ 445 ¥ 468 ¥ 6,418 ¥ 514 ¥ 6,932
Identifiable assets ¥ 203,968 ¥ 11,654 ¥14,830 ¥ 230,452 ¥ 2,034 ¥ 232,486
Depreciation and amortization ¥ 12,967 ¥ 621 ¥ 440 ¥ 14,028 ¥ (365) ¥ 13,663
Capital expenditures ¥ 15,722 ¥ 779 ¥ 511 ¥ 17,012 ¥  (466) ¥ 16,546

Millions of yen
2005

Pﬁ%&edacid Pazs{;g)&cgtcsess Others Total Ce?iﬁ?r:::;gr Consolidated

Sales:
Outside customers ¥ 132,152 ¥ 12,409 ¥ 6,644 ¥ 151,205 ¥ — ¥ 151,205
Intersegment 972 73 22,178 23,223 (23,223) —
Total 133,124 12,482 28,822 174,428 (23,223) 151,205
Operating expenses 122,247 11,650 28,233 162,130 (23,834) 138,296
Operating income ¥ 10,877 ¥ 832 ¥ 589 ¥ 12,298 ¥ 611 ¥ 12,909
Identifiable assets ¥ 198,564 ¥ 10,682 ¥14,722 ¥ 223,968 ¥ (2,530) ¥ 221,438
Depreciation and amortization ¥ 12,347 ¥ 569 ¥ 427 ¥ 13,343 ¥  (393) ¥ 12,950
Capital expenditures ¥ 7,602 ¥ 1,411 ¥ 464 ¥ 9,477 ¥  (282) ¥ 9,195
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Thousands of U.S. dollars

2007

Plgfordﬂigd Pagfgg&gtcsess Others Total Ce(f‘ﬁ?rzgtti,ﬁr Consolidated

Sales:
Outside customers $ 1,170,302 $ 116,784 $ 59,277 $ 1,346,363 § - $ 1,346,363
Intersegment 12,457 237 223,135 235,829 (235,829) —
Total 1,182,759 117,021 282,412 1,582,192 (235,829) 1,346,363
Operating expenses 1,118,664 114,438 274,520 1,507,622 (237,895) 1,269,727
Operating income $ 6409 $§ 2,583 $ 7,892 $ 74,570 $ 2,066 $ 76,636
|dentifiable assets $ 2,039,190 $ 114,422 $ 171,420 $ 2,325,032 $ (46,058) $ 2,278,974
Depreciation and amortization $ 82,251 $ 4,784 $ 4,666 $ 91,701 $  (2227) $ 89,474
Capital expenditures $ 348,158 $ 10,086 $ 12,024 $ 370268 $ (5953) $ 364,315

Geographic segment information
Geographic segment information is omitted due to no overseas subsidiaries and significant overseas branches.

Overseas sales information
Overseas sales information is omitted as overseas sales are less than 10% of consolidated net sales.

Note 18 —Notes Matured at End of Fiscal Year
The year-ended, March 31, 2007, fell on a bank holiday.
The following notes that matured on March 31, 2007
were accounted for as if they were settled on their date
of maturity:

Note 19—Subsequent Event

The followings are approved at the annual shareholders’

meeting of the Company held on June 27, 2007:
Payment of a cash dividend of ¥6.00 ($0.05) per share

to shareholders as of March 31, 2007 or a total of

¥1,277 million ($10,814 thousand).

¥337 million ($2,854 thousand)
¥2,374 million ($20,103 thousand)
¥286 million ($2,422 thousand)

Notes receivable, trade
Notes payable, trade
Notes payable, other
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To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of
HOKUETSU PAPER MILLS, LTD.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of HOKUETSU PAPER MILLS, LTD. (a
Japanese corporation) and consolidated subsidiaries as of March 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related
consolidated statements of income, changes in net assets and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended March 31, 2007, expressed in Japanese yen. These consolidated financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to independently express an opinion on
these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of HOKUETSU PAPER MILLS, LTD. and subsidiaries as of March
31, 2007 and 2006, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended March 31, 2007, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in Japan.

Without qualifying our opinion,we draw attention to the following:

(1) As discussed in Note 2(g) to the consolidated financial statements, effective from the year ended March
31, 2007, HOKUETSU PAPER MILLS, LTD. and consolidated subsidiaries adopted the new accounting
standards for the presentation of net assets in the balance sheet.

(2) As discussed in Note 2(g) to the consolidated financial statements, effective from the year ended March
31, 2007, HOKUETSU PAPER MILLS, LTD. changed the method of accounting for depreciation of certain
machinery and equipment from the declining-balance method to the straight-line method.

(3) As discussed in Note 2(h) to the consolidated financial statements, effective from the year ended March
31, 2006, HOKUETSU PAPER MILLS, LTD. and consolidated subsidiaries adopted the accounting standard
for impairment of fixed assets.

The U.S. dollar amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial statements with respect to the year
ended March 31, 2007 are presented solely for convenience. Our audit also included the translation of yen
amounts into U.S. dollar amounts and, in our opinion, such translation has been made on the basis
described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Kpha Aesh & Co.

Tokyo, Japan
June 27, 2007
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